ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LEONARD GOODWIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-193507

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to include language in the jury instruction regarding circumstantial evidence indicating that “the State must exclude all other reasonable hypotheses when it relies upon circumstantial evidence,” thereby leaving the jury confused regarding the legal relation of circumstantial evidence to the determination of guilt?

- II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to grant a directed verdict where the evidence of the alleged offense against Appellant was circumstantial, and only rose to the level of “mere speculation” rather than “substantial circumstantial evidence.”

- III. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress two autopsy photographs graphically depicting maggot infested remains that had decomposed more than four days?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Leonard Goodwin was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury on January 13, 2010, for murder. R. 11, lines 4-13; R. 540 (indictment). His case proceeded to trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury from May 31 through June 3, 2011. Cassandra Winslow and Beattie Butler (collectively, "Counsel") represented Appellant, while Edward Kidd and Adam D. Young represented the State. R. 1-2; R. 144 – R. 145; R. 358 – R. 359; R. 436 – R. 437. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged, and the trial court imposed a sentence of life. R. 522, line 22–R. 523 line 9; R. 537, lines 5-8.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Leonard Goodwin was fifty-six years old in April 2006, and lived in a rented home in North Charleston, South Carolina, with his wife, Mary Ann Robinson (Wife),¹ and stepson Eric Robinson (Stepson). R. 58, line 14–R. 59, line 10; R. 116, line 8–R. 117, line 11; R. 119, lines 18 – 21. Appellant and Stepson had a relationship that was at times rocky; however, although arguments may have occasionally occurred, there were never any physical altercations between the two over approximately twenty years. R. 58, lines 8-10; R. 120, line 10—R. 121, line 4; R. 130, lines 3—R. 131, line 12.

At approximately 8:30 to 9:00 pm on April 3, 2006, Stepson was speaking on the house telephone with his girlfriend, Latarshia Washington (Washington). R. 62, line 21–R. 63, line 18. She called Stepson again at approximately 9:30 pm. R. 81, line 17–R. 82, line 3. During the second conversation, Washington stated that she overheard an argument between Appellant and Stepson, and the call ended after about thirty minutes when she heard a loud “crash, like glass breaking.” R. 64, line 1–R. 65, line 9; R. 82, lines 18-22. Washington indicated that she never heard any mention of a gun or any weapon over the telephone, and that she never heard a gunshot; just something like glass breaking. R. 83, lines 14-22. Washington called back three to six times to the house phone, and Appellant answered. When asked where Stepson was, Appellant purportedly said that Stepson left to Russellville looking for weed. R. 65, line 22—R. 66, line 10; R. 90, lines 1-6.

Washington later contacted Stepson’s cousins, Michael Phillips (Phillips) and Jessie Owens (Owens). She was picked up by Owens at approximately 11:00 pm, and the two

¹ By April 2006, Appellant and Wife had been married for approximately seventeen years. R. 116, lines 16-23.

drove to Appellant's home. R. 67, line 11–R. 68, line 17; R. 84, lines 9-16; R. 93, lines 9-11; R. 95, line 9–R. 96, line 17. About one block from arriving at the house, the two saw Appellant riding his bicycle. They all stopped and spoke for a few moments. Although stained specks were noticed on the lower portion of Appellant's shirt that Washington would later claim was blood, Owens "didn't think nothing of it." R. 69, lines 1-21; R. 85, lines 3-15; R. 96, line 18—R. 97, line 19.

Owens and Washington arrived in front of Appellant's home where they eventually met with Phillips, and all three waited outside in the road. Appellant returned between five to thirty minutes after previously meeting Owens and Washington that night, and he went inside. R. 70, lines 18–22; R. 98, lines 7-8.

Wife also arrived home between 11:00 and 11:15 pm while Owens, Washington, and Phillips waited outside, and she saw Appellant calmly sitting on the couch watching television when she walked inside. R. 71; R. 72, lines 12-11; R. 98, lines 2-13; R. 122, line 8–R. 124, line 1; R. 125, lines 14-16; R. 132, lines 6-18. Soon after, Washington flagged down a passing police car, which was driven by Officer Arthur D. Armstead (Armstead) R. 71, lines 17-25; R. 110, lines 4-10; R. 156, lines 4-24.

Armstead entered the house with Phillips walking behind. R. 72, lines 12-24; R. 88, line 4—R. 89, line 11; R. 99, lines 1-5; R. 110, lines 12-24. Upon entry, Armstead made contact with the occupants. Appellant allegedly stated that he had a verbal argument with Stepson, and Stepson left with a female. R. 159, lines 9-15. Armstead had Appellant stand in the middle of the house while he inspected the rooms. He walked in and out of the bedrooms, and checked the common areas. R. 159, line 5–R. 160, line 25. Armstead neither saw anything out of the ordinary, nor smelled anything out of the ordinary—

including either the smell of a gunshot lingering inside the home, or the smell of cleaning chemicals. R. 160, lines 2-25; R. 163, line 2–R. 164, line 18; R. 166, lines 3-21. In fact, the only person who claims to have smelled anything was Wife, who indicated at trial that she smelled bleach and cleaning products in the bathroom.² R. 124, line 17–R. 125, line 7; R. 136, line 7–R. 137, line 2. Although she was the person in the household who most often cleaned the home, Wife indicated that Appellant did some cleaning as well. R. 133, lines 2-4. She further testified that nothing was out of the ordinary, and everything seemed normal—which was the same observation echoed by both Phillips and Armstead. R. 113, line 14–R. 114, line 3; R. 132, line 6–R. 134, line 3; R. 159, line 21–R. 160, line 25; R. 164, lines 2-18. Armstead left the home, and did not file a report because there was “nothing to report.” R. 165, line 14.

Over three weeks later, Wife smelled a foul odor, and informed Appellant of this while he was cutting the grass in a neighbor’s yard. Appellant pointed to the back of the yard, and indicated it was a dead cat. R. 126, lines 6-12. Wife called her sister, and then law enforcement about the odor, but was not sure whether she told Appellant that she called the police. R. 126, lines 13-25. When officers arrived on April 27, 2006, Appellant was still cutting the neighbor’s grass. Appellant was not seen thereafter until his arrest on September 6, 2009.³ R. 364, lines 8-22; R. 371, line 24—R. 372, line 7.

² Wife never mentioned smelling bleach or cleaning products in her statements to law enforcement on either April 6, 2006, or April 27, 2006. R. 134, line 4–R. 137, line 3.

³ When arrested, Appellant stated to law enforcement that he was in New Jersey over the previous year, and indicated he was aware that he was wanted for murder. R. 370, line 13—R. 371, line 14.

Stepson's body was found in the crawlspace beneath the home. The remains were found decomposed, covered in lime, and among a small amount of trash.⁴ R. 169, lines 2-23; R. 171, lines 7-25; R. 173, lines 5-20; R. 180, lines 1-25; R. 276, lines 4-21; A pair of socks were located in the front exterior garbage can with spatters later identified as Stepson's blood. R. 184, line 25—R. 185, line 3; R. 203, line 1—R. 204, line 11. Two bags of lime—one opened, one unopened—in packaging from True Value were also found in the back yard of the house beneath a tarp with other lawn equipment, such as a mower and gas cans.⁵ R. 197, line 4—R. 198, line 22. Other items were found in the back yard too, including "Fabreeze," "Odor Ban," and a cleaner. R. 250, line 22—R. 252, line 23. Using amido black, the back door and cement on the back porch revealed spots which tested positive for blood. R. 189, lines 5-16; R. 227, line 4—R. 229, line 13. However, no blood was found anywhere inside the house even though amido black can reveal attempts to clean blood. R. 238, line 6—R. 239, line 16; R. 247, lines 1-10; R. 306, lines 11-24. Also, damage was found on the wood of the rear screen door of the house postulated to be from a gunshot. However, no gun of any caliber was ever found in the case. R. 237, lines 2-8.

Doctor Cynthia Anna Schandl (Schandl) testified at Appellant's trial as the forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy. She determined the cause of death was a gunshot

⁴ On May 4, 2011, the State sent an investigator back to the crawlspace of the house, and recovered eight empty alcohol bottles from this approximate location, one of which was an empty gin bottle with Appellant's DNA. R. 377, line 8—R. 380, line 15; R. 385, line 1—R. 386, line 14; R. 521, lines 1-24.

⁵ The State produced William Palmer (Palmer), an employee from True Value in North Charleston, to testify at trial. Palmer indicated Appellant regularly purchased one to two bags of lime per week over approximately six months prior to April 2006 when police first spoke with him. R. 210, line 1—R. 212, line 13; R. 216, line 20—R. 217, line 25; R. 220, lines 2-23.

wound to the head, and the hole measured .6 inches by .35 inches. R. 335, line 17–R. 338, R. 342, line 12; R. 342, lines 13-14. Additionally, Schandl explained that, although there was some discoloration on the surface of the skull, this was completely inconclusive of any soot from a gun being fired and the range that the gun was fired from the head could not be determined. R. 338, line 13–R. 339, line 20. In fact, the remains had decomposed to the point that the brain had liquefied, and Schandl could not even determine the path of the wound. R. 341, lines 2-24.

Schandl also testified regarding the estimated time of death. First, she described changes to the body due to decomposition. Over Counsel’s objection, the trial court admitted two autopsy photographs depicting Stepson’s bloated, maggot infested remains. R. 322, lines 8-19; R. 355, line 13–R. 356, line 20; R. iv (State’s Exhibit # 52); R. iv (State’s Exhibit # 54). The State then elicited further testimony regarding each photograph; yet, despite the State’s efforts to have Schandl give a time of death based on the presence of maggots, the best the forensic pathologist could state was that death occurred more than four days prior, “but it’s certainly not specific for a length of time between death and where we are now.” R. 322, line 21—R. 325, line 23. Schandl also testified that rigor mortis had already passed, sloughing and gloving of the skin was occurring, and that fluid in the eyes had already dissipated, indicating that the time of death was more than four days. R. 326, lines 3-20; R. 330, lines 1-25.

Moreover, the State’s firearms identification expert, Kenneth H. Whitler (Whitler), also testified. Specifically, Whitler stated that the metal fragment—which was taken from Stepson’s head—was either a piece of lead, or a projectile. In fact, the item was so “mashed up” that his testing consisted primarily on the remaining weight of the lead. R. 396, line 14–

R. 397, line 18. As a result, Whitler could not even say it was a bullet; and even if it was a bullet, it could be anything from a .22 caliber rim-fired bullet, or a piece of a much larger caliber bullet. R. 396, lines 14-18; R. 400, lines 22-24.

At the close of evidence, Counsel moved for a directed verdict of acquittal. R. 458, lines 6-19. The trial court denied the motion, and cited to Washington's testimony as direct evidence of guilt, and to the following as substantial circumstantial evidence of the same: testimony from wife that Appellant explained the odor was a dead cat; testimony regarding Appellant's prior purchases of lime from True Value hardware; lime found from True Value under the a tarp in the back yard of the home; lime found on Stepson's remains; testimony regarding flight; testimony regarding odor-masking chemicals; testimony regarding the smell of bleach after Washington heard the argument; testimony regarding a liquor bottle with Appellant's DNA near the area where Stepson's remains were found; and the overwhelming odor under the house. R. 462, line 2–R. 463, line 6.

Further, during the jury charge conference, Counsel asserted that the circumstantial evidence jury instruction should include an Edwards charge containing the following key language:

The State must exclude all other reasonable hypotheses when it relies upon circumstantial evidence.

R. 467, line 19—R. 468, line 4. In light of recent South Carolina case law, Counsel also challenged the validity of the language of State v. Grippon⁶ that states the “law makes

⁶ 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997).

absolutely no distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence.”⁷ R. 468, line 9–R. 469, line 22; R. 470, line 21–R. 471, line 12. The State opposed, and the trial court noted Counsel’s exception. After instructing the jury on reasonable doubt, the trial court charged the following language relating to circumstantial evidence:

There are two types of evidence generally presented during a trial: direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. It is evidence which immediately establishes the main fact to be proved. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. It is evidence which immediately establishes collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred. Circumstantial evidence is based on inference and not on personal knowledge or observation. You should weigh all of the evidence in this case. After weighing all of the evidence, if you are not convinced that the State has proven each element of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty.

R. 510, line 21—R. 511, line 12. Counsel’s objections were renewed out of the presence of the jury. R. 520, lines 4-13.

After deliberating for over two hours, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged. R. 521, line 15—R. 522, line 10; R. 522, line 22–R. 523, line 7. The trial court sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 537, lines 5-8.

This appeal follows.

⁷ In an abundance of caution, Counsel also requested the trial court’s permission to argue against precedent. R. 467, lines 19-22.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court reversibly erred by failing to include language in the jury instruction regarding circumstantial evidence indicating that “the State must exclude all other reasonable hypotheses when it relies upon circumstantial evidence,” thereby leaving the jury confused regarding the legal relation of circumstantial evidence to the determination of guilt.**

The purpose of jury instructions is to enlighten the jury as to applicable law so that a just, fair and proper verdict can be reached. State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987); see also State v. Blurton, 352 S.C. 203, 207, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002) (“The purpose of a jury instruction is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.”). It is error to give instructions which are calculated to confuse or mislead a jury. Blurton, 352 S.C. at 208, 573 S.E.2d at 804 (quoting Leonard, 292 S.C. at 137, 355 S.E.2d at 273). The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. Id.; see also State v. Lindler, 276 S.C. 304, 307, 278 S.E.2d 335, 337 (1981). In a criminal case, the judge must charge on all material issues raised by the indictment and evidence. State v. Fair, 209 S.C. 439, 445, 40 S.E.2d 634, 637 (1946). It is reversible error to decline a criminal defendant's requested jury instruction where it (1) is a correct statement of the law, (2) was not substantially covered by other instructions, and (3) was important enough to the case that its omission impaired the defendant's ability to defend himself. United States v. Frazier-El, 204 F.3d 553, 562 (4th Cir. 2000) (quoting United States v. Queen, 132 F.3d 991, 1000 (4th Cir. 1997)). See also United States v. Dornhofer, 859 F.2d 1195, 1199 (4th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1005 (holding that a trial court may not refuse a defense theory instruction if it has evidentiary support and is an accurate statement of the law).

In the present case, Counsel requested inclusion of the traditional language regarding the relation of circumstantial evidence to the determination of guilt, as embodied in State v. Edwards, as well as the concurring opinion in State v. Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 85, 489 S.E.2d 462, 465 (1997) (Toal, C.J., concurring), wherein the Supreme Court held a jury could not convict unless:

Every circumstance relied upon by the State be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and . . . all of the circumstances so proven be consistent with each other and taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis. If it is not sufficient that they create a probability, though a strong one and if, assuming them to be true they may be accounted for upon any reasonable hypothesis which does not include the guilt of the accused, for the proof has failed.

State v Edwards, 298 S.C. 272, 275, 379 S.E.2d 888, 889 (1989) abrogated by State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004) (holding the “language in Grippon is the sole and exclusive charge to be given in circumstantial evidence cases in this state.”) Specifically, Counsel indicated “the reasonable hypothesis language and the exclusion language” was key to his requested jury instruction. R. 469, lines 20-22.

Counsel also acknowledged that the traditional circumstantial evidence language he requested was abrogated beginning with Grippon, which allowed juries to be charged as follows:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial-direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence. Nor is a greater degree of certainty required of

circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all the evidence in the case. After weighing all the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find [the defendant] not guilty.

Grippon, 327 S.C. at 83-84, 489 S.E.2d at 464 (quoting 1 E. Devitt & C. Blackmar, Federal Jury Practice and Instructions § 12.04 (4th ed.1992)). However, Counsel asserted that the Grippon charge itself was legally incorrect, and that recent South Carolina case law, such as State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), indicated it was no longer the proper standard regarding circumstantial evidence. R. 467, line 23–R. 469, line 22.

In Bostick, the Supreme Court examined the law regarding directed verdicts in circumstantial evidence cases. Relying on three seminal cases regarding the proof necessary in cases with circumstantial evidence—State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984), State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004), and State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000)—the Court applied the following standard where no direct evidence is present: “A case should be submitted to the jury when evidence is circumstantial if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” Bostick, 392 S.C. at 139-42, 708 S.E.2d at 776-78 (emphasis added). Thus, as Counsel asserted, the Bostick line of cases illustrates that the Supreme Court’s view regarding differences or similarities between direct and circumstantial evidence has changed. R. 470, line 22—R. 471, line 3.

Indeed, evidence is growing that the underpinnings of Grippon and Cherry are being eroded *sub silentio* by the Supreme Court are growing. Grippon and Cherry essentially rely upon an adequate reasonable doubt instruction to provide the necessary guidance to jurors when circumstantial evidence is produced in the case. Further, Cherry in particular

suggested that any additional language explaining the relationship between circumstantial evidence to the determination of guilt was confusing to juries:

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