STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

The State, Respondent,
v.

Leonard Goodwin, Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2011-193507

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
OT Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 958-1900

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

I was - - actually thought that the testimony from the doctor supported my position because she almost refused to use the pictures in any part of her testimony. When the questions were put to her what does

this photograph depict, she would say, well, I can't really tell you; I can look at my report and describe it to you.

So she didn't even use the photographs. So they didn't assist her testimony. To the extent that they did, they're far more prejudicial than probative. I don't think that I've ever had photographs come into a murder trial where they were parasitic maggots on the body. And it's disturbing and unsettling and it shouldn't come into evidence and I would at this time not only renew my objection but in light of her testimony that she didn't rely on or use them, move that they be taken out of evidence.

(R. p. 355, line 25 – p. 356, line 20).

The trial judge found:

All right. I believe that fully articulates your argument.

I disagree. I did not find that they were more prejudicial. There was extensive testimony that she used larva and the stages of the larva to identify the time - - or the stages of death, four days or more. So note your exception.

(R. p. 356, line 21 – p. 357, line 2).

On appeal, Appellant complains the ruling on relevance is incorrect as “Dr. Schandl’s ultimate finding that the time of death was more than four days was based upon the lack of fluid in the eyes of [victim’s] remains, not the presence of maggots.” (FBOA, p. 26). Further, he complains “the photographs were not needed to prove the elements of murder” as the “gunshot wound to the head was established by Dr. Schandyl through the use of her autopsy report.” (FBOA, p. 27). Lastly, he complains the photographs “served to create an unfair prejudice against” him due to “close-up imagery” of the “severe maggot infestation.” (FBOA, p. 27).

Discussion:

“The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and absent a clear abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law, the trial court’s ruling

will not be disturbed on appeal.” *Peterson v. National R.R. Passenger Corp.*, 365 S.C. 391, 399, 618 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2005); *Gambell v. Int’l. Paper Realty Corp.*, 323 S.C. 367, 373, 474 S.E.2d 438, 441 (1996).¹ To warrant reversal, an appellant “must show both the error of the ruling and resulting prejudice.” *Recco Paper & Label Co. v. Barfield*, 312 S.C. 214, 216, 439 S.E.2d 838, 840 (1994); *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 353, 543 S.E.2d 586, 591 (Ct. App. 2001), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE.

“The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996). *See also State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986). “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003); *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991). “To constitute unfair prejudice, the photographs must create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995), *quoting Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 377, 401 S.E.2d at 149. However, “[i]f the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010), *quoting Nance*, 320 S.C.

¹ All relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE.

at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353. *See also State v. Salley*, 398 S.C. 160, 169, 727 S.E.2d 740, 744 (2012) (photograph of child “substantiated [forensic pathologist] Dr. [Joel] Sexton’s testimony that the child’s sickle cell trait was not outwardly apparent” thus “had a purpose independent of arousing sympathy, and was properly admitted”).

At issue here are two photographs from the autopsy. The body is shown in a clinical setting, on an autopsy table, and appears to be face down.⁵ (State’s Exhibits 52 and 54). The autopsy photographs depict the advanced decomposition of the victim’s body which, in turn, supports the pathologist’s observations and demonstrates the difficulties in relying on visual observations, giving understanding to the doctor’s hesitancy in describing features. Further, State’s Exhibit 52 depicts the multiple sizes of maggots which indicates several egg laying cycles had occurred which, in turn, supports her testimony that the presence of such indicated more than four days had passed since death. There were discrete and necessary reasons to submit the two photographs. In sum, because “the offered photograph[s] serve[d] to corroborate [the pathologist’s] testimony, it [was] not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” *Torres*, 390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 229; *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353. *See also Todd*, 290 S.C. at 214, 349 S.E.2d at 340 (black and white photograph of the victim’s right upper chest with the breast exposed showing the location of the bullet wound was admissible to corroborate pathologist’s testimony regarding location of wound, and did not prejudice defendant,

⁵ In fact, Appellant did not object to a photograph of the body shown in the crawlspace. (Tr. p. 61, line 1 – p. 63, line 1; State’s Exhibit 29). Further, the record shows that the State did not offer all photographs available in this case, and appeared to be open to discussion with defense counsel. The record demonstrates that the State withdrew at least one contested photograph (though the record is not clear what kind of photograph it was) upon defense counsel’s objection. (R. p. 152, lines 1-6). However, State’s Exhibit 5 was marked and not admitted. That photograph was of the victim’s forearm and showed a tattoo. (State’s Exhibit 5).

since there was explicit testimony that victim's blouse and brassiere had been removed by medical personnel when they arrived at scene in order to administer medical assistance); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76 (1998) (photographs of various bone and bomb fragments and clothing found at crime scene were admissible in murder prosecution, despite claim that, because victim's body was found in woods 46 days after crime was committed, weather or local fauna could have altered crime scene during that period; photographs corroborated other testimony concerning condition of victim's body as first discovered by police at crime scene, and location of bone and bomb fragments supported testimony that bomb had been detonated in victim's mouth); *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 249-51, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607-08 (Ct.App. 2008) (autopsy photographs of child's internal organs and other injuries admissible in prosecution for homicide by child abuse, where they were introduced to corroborate testimony of doctor who performed autopsy regarding various injuries inflicted on child, various stages of healing or freshness, and the internal trauma which caused child's death; photographs were relevant to prove that child was abused and abuse caused his death, that abuse manifested an extreme indifference to human life, and that severity of bruises and resulting trauma were inconsistent with accidental injury or play; and photographs were not introduced with the intent to inflame, elicit sympathy of, or prejudice the jury); *State v. Edwards*, 10 S.E.2d 587, 588 (1940) ("In our opinion the trial Judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the photograph [depicting head, torso, neck wound, decomposition and maggots] as being relevant, nor can we attach any importance, in view of the facts of this case, to the contention that the photograph prejudiced the jury against the defendant. Everything

depicted by the photograph was, subsequent to its introduction, testified to in detail by the witnesses.”).

Further, Appellant’s argument that the doctor did not rely on the insect infestation in considering time of death “as more than four days” is not accurate. (See FBOA, p. 26). The doctor clearly testified there were multiple factors to consider in evaluating the length of time that had passed. These included the insect infestation, among other physical manifestations. (R. p. 325, lines 6-23; p. 326, lines 10-18; p. 332, line 13 – p. 333, line 23; p. 341, lines 18-24). Moreover, the doctor did not specifically opine on a number of days, but opined that the indications did not exclude a lapse of twenty-four days. (R. p. 342, line 24 – p. 343, line 1).

There is no merit to the argument that “the photographs were not needed to prove the elements of murder” or that one of the matters proved were not contested *by him*. (See FBOA, p. 27). This is not the appropriate inquiry. Rather, the proper question for determining relevance was whether this photograph had “any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “[A] defendant cannot dictate the manner in which the prosecution tries its case by stipulating to certain facts or by not challenging an element of the offense” and “the prosecution’s burden to prove every element of the crime is not relieved by a defendant’s tactical decision not to contest an essential element of the offense.” *See Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 69 (1991); *Mathews v. United States*, 485 U.S. 58, 64-65 (1988).⁶

⁶ As the Court noted in *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 189-190 (1997), “the accepted rule that the prosecution is entitled to prove its case free from any defendant’s option to stipulate the evidence away rests on good sense. A syllogism is not

Further, unlike the photographs in *State v. Collins*, 398 S.C. 197, 201-14, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754-60 (Ct.App. 2012), the photographs at issue here were not “calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury.” Though perhaps unsettling to one not familiar with death and decay, the photographs are not gruesome by virtue of blood, gore, or gapping wounds. In fact, due to extensive decomposition, the customary features one would expect to see on a body are not clearly visible; rather, the photographs actually show little human detail – the very point the forensic pathologist made in testimony. (R. p. 324, lines 8-12). At any rate, the photographs well demonstrate and corroborate the forensic pathologist’s testimony which is especially probative since time of death established through forensic means was important in connecting the evidence. Thus, the trial court did not err in finding the photographs relevant and admissible.

Further still, only two photographs were introduced to corroborate her testimony, as opposed to the numerous photographs admitted in *Collins* and other cases where this Court or the Supreme Court have held that there was an abuse of discretion in the admission of photographs. *See, for example, Collins*, 398 S.C. at 208, 727 S.E.2d at 757 (referencing seven photographs of a partially eaten ten year old victim: “It is difficult to look at each photo, and the combined effect of all seven is disturbing.”); *State v. Middleton*, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (at least four photographs introduced of graphic, but autopsy-related, damage to remains, *i.e.* “victim’s scalp pulled

a story, and a naked proposition in a courtroom may be no match for the robust evidence that would be used to prove it. People who hear a story interrupted by gaps of abstraction may be puzzled at the missing chapters, and jurors asked to rest a momentous decision on the story's truth can feel put upon at being asked to take responsibility knowing that more could be said than they have heard. A convincing tale can be told with economy, but when economy becomes a break in the natural sequence of narrative evidence, an assurance that the missing link is really there is never more than second best.”

away from her skull” and “surgically opened vaginal cavity exposing a large amount of seminal fluid”); *State v. Waitus*, 224 S.C. 12, 27, 77 S.E.2d 256, 263 (1953) (“four pictures of deceased taken in the boiler room of the parish house before the body was removed” should have been excluded because injuries, “the condition of the clothes,” and the fact “her rings had been removed and placed on the index finger,” were “fully established both by uncontradicted medical and lay testimony” thus “were calculated to inflame and arouse the passions of the jury and their introduction was wholly unnecessary to establish the facts claimed”).⁷ Further, due, in part, to the advance decay, the photographs “did not have ‘the overwhelming capacity to lure the jury into declaring guilt on the emotional basis of sympathy for the [victim] and horror at the sight of the [victim’s] body,’ as did the numerous photographs of the child victim, including a photograph of his partial eaten face, that this Court found unduly prejudicial in *Collins*. 398 S.C. at 210, 727 S.E.2d at 758.

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). At worst, the photographs were

⁷ Respondent again notes that even though Appellant relies on this case in making his argument, (see FBOA, p. 27), he did not object to the photograph of the remains in the crawlspace under the house. Footnote 5, *supra*. (R. p. 174, line 1 – p. 176, line 1; State’s Exhibit 29).

cumulative to the other evidence concerning the crime scene (especially State's Exhibit 29, the body in the crawlspace) and the condition of the victim's body (especially the extensive use of lime, the clothing consistent with the clothing worn the last day Ms. Washington saw victim alive, and the advanced decay suggesting more than four days had passed since death). *State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587, 588 -589 (1942) ("The photographs, it is true, were only corroborative of the spoken word, and proved to be unnecessary in this particular case, but they were no more than harmless surplusage. They showed material conditions which existed, and were not inflammable fuel to be consumed by the minds of the jurors, nor do we think that they were calculated to arouse the prejudices of the jury."). *See also State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (improper evidence harmless where merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Evans*, 378 S.C. 296, 299, 662 S.E.2d 489, 491 (Ct. App. 2008) (evidence "merely cumulative, insubstantial" did not affect the result of trial and considered harmless). Moreover, there was overwhelming evidence of Watson's guilt – especially the concise timeframe between violent argument with Appellant and disappearance; the victim's body recovered with the same clothes and jewelry victim was seen wearing the day of the disappearance, and immediately before the altercation with Appellant; victim's body hidden under Appellant's residence with a bottle with Appellant's DNA next to the body in a remote area away from the crawlspace entrance; lime on the victim's body consistent with lime purchase by Appellant; Appellant's odor agents also with bags of lime in his work materials for lawn care; Appellant's deflective suggestion that the odor in the house was from a dead cat in the yard; and, Appellant's flight from the jurisdiction when the body was about to be discovered due to the strong smell of decay. This detailed,

competent evidence well supports the jury's verdict such that the admission of photographs, if considered error, could only be harmless on this record. *Bailey, supra*.

However, the record supports the basis for the trial judge's ruling admitting the photographs over Applicant's objection. Her ruling should not be disturbed on appeal.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Respondent, the State, submits that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.